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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
AT GREENEVILLE

GEORGERAUDENBUSH,
P aintiff,
V. No. 2:14-CV-295

SHARON TAYLOR,et al,

e N N N

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

This matter is before the Court on defenda8tsaron Taylor, Jesse Gregg, Harold Angel,
Kevin Hampton, Randy Lee, Misty Hardin Gregad Jeffrey Chance (“defendants”) motion for
summary judgment. [Doc. 79]The plaintiff filed a respons¢Doc. 86], opposing the motion.
The matter is ripe for review.
. FACTS

The plaintiff was sentenced to serveurf years in the custody of the Tennessee
Department of Corrections (“TDOC”) for comtions of felony evading arrest and reckless
endangerment. [Doc. 87 § 1]. The plainbgan serving his sentn at the South Central
Correctional Facility and wastkx transferred to the Northeast Correctional Complex (“NECX”)
where the incident giving rise to this suit occurreltl. § 2]. At all relevantimes, the plaintiff
was classified by TDOC as a minimum security inmatd.  3]. The plaintiff was housed in
the NECX Annex (“Annex”) prior to September 20, 2013Amended Complainf 16]. On
September 20, 2013, the plaintiff was involved iniateraction or alteation with another

inmate while standing in line ithe Annex dining facility. Id. T 4].
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According to the defendants, defendanstyliHardin Gregg (“Halin Gregg”) offered
the plaintiff and the other inmate the opporturity complete a work sanction in lieu of a
disciplinary report. Hardin Gregg Depoat 18-19]. Defendant Hardi@Gregg testified that the
plaintiff refused the work sanction and, upors hefusal, she called her supervisor, Captain
Henson, who made the decision to send thenfptato the compound from the Annex pursuant
to TDOC policy. [d. at 19]. Defendant Haml Gregg completed the disciplinary reportd.].

The plaintiff testified in his deposition that he did not refuse the work sanction but readily
accepted it. Raudenbush Depat 110]. The plaintiff further gified that his acceptance of the
work sanction angered defendant Hardin Gragg she told him he would be going to the
compound.Id. at 111].

While the plaintiff argues irhis response to the motionathdefendant Hardin Gregg
“ordered” and made the decision for him to betde the compound, the ptaiff testified in his
deposition that prior to defendadardin Gregg completing the diptnary report that she made
two or three phone calls in his presence winietbelieved were to her supervisorid. at 112].

The plaintiff further testified that “nobodyedves the annex without [the unit manager’s]
permission” according to his understanding of TDOC poliy.dt 114, 115]. According to the
plaintiff, defendant Kevin Hampton was the unit manager and the plaintiff went to him and asked
him to not send the plaintiff to the compound dafendant Hampton failed to intervened.][

The plaintiff admitted that he did not knowdéfendant Hampton was responsible for sending
him to the compound.Id. at 116].

While housed in the compound, the plaintiff's cellmate was inmate Christian. [Doc. 87
9]. On September 24, 2013, the defendant séattex to the warden, endant Sharon Taylor,

stating that he faced a potih threat from his cellmate, inmate Christianld. [ 11]. The



plaintiff testified he sent thiketter in a sealed envelope addressed to Warden Taylor through the
in-house mail system.Raudenbush Depat 121]. The plaintiff testified he sent one prior letter

to Warden Taylor in the same manner but ha other evidence of such a letteld.]] No other
inmate was listed as a threat to the plaintiffia September 24, 2013 letter to the warden. [Doc.
87 at 11]. The letter states that inmateigiian had “robbed” hinby stealing some of his
belongings in the cell and had shown him a knife “to scare” him but that he “was not scared
because my faith is in Christ.”Id[]. The plaintiff wanted to beoved to a different unit or pod
because he believed the unit he was placed in was a gang unit for violent inrtthjesThie

same day the letter was writtenfeledant Taylor wrote at the tags the letter, “Mr. McCracken,

Have a member of your team talk to tnan—move him if necessary. S. Taylorld.].

In the early morning hours of the foling day, September 25, 2013, the plaintiff was
attacked in his cell by inmate Haus[Doc. 87 at 9§ 13]. Theahtiff testified that he believed
the attack occurred at 6:00 the morning or earlier. Raudenbush Depat 20]. The plaintiff
testified the attack occurred as follows, “Inm&teristian opened the door . . . and let Inmate
House in and that’'s when Inmate House stattedssault me while | was still in bed.ld[ at
22].

The plaintiff testified thatluring the time he was housed in the compound prior to the
September 25, 2013 attack he informed defendainénce and Lewis, correctional officers, that
he was in fear for his life. Id. at 123]. The plaintiff gave no sgific day that he talked with
these officers but said that he told the officers he feared for his safety because inmate Christian,
his cellmate, had a knife.Id[ at 123-24]. The plaintiff tédied that defendants Chance and
Lewis responded to this notidgy performing a cell search “shortly after,” or “a day maybe”

after he talked to them but no knife was locatdd. gt 124-25].



The plaintiff brought suit against defemt& Sharon Taylor, Ken Hampton, Misty
Hardin Gregg, Harold Angel, Randy Lee, JeGsegg, Officer Chancend Officer Lewis. The
plaintiff alleges violations ohis civil rights under Title 2, United States Code 8§ 1983 (“8
1983”) and state law claims for the beating thaturred on Septembeb,22013. [Doc. 9]. The
Court previously dismissed other defendantatiregy to a 8 1983 claim foallegedly failing to
provide medical care. [Docs. 388]. The plaintiff's state & claim for negligence or gross
negligence has also been dismissgDoc. 58]. The only remaing claims are against the above
listed defendants for alleged § 1983 violaticimsentional inflictionof emotional distressand

assault and battery.

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is proper where the plegsijrthe discovery and disclosure materials
on file, and any affidavits show that there is nougee issue of material fact and that the movant
is entitled to judgment as a matter of lalwed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). In ruling on a motion for
summary judgment, the Court must view the factstained in the record and all inferences that
can be drawn from those facts in the lighbdst favorable to the non-moving partylatsushita
Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cqrg75 U.S. 574, 587 (198aG\at’| Satellite Sports, Inc. v.
Eliadis, Inc, 253 F.3d 900, 907 {6Cir. 2001). The Court cannot weigh the evidence, judge the
credibility of witnesses, or determiribe truth of any matter in disputeAnderson v. Liberty

Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).

1 Counts three and four of the amended complaint alleging the “tort of outrage or outrageous conduct” and
intentional infliction of emotional distress are alleging the same cause of a®io®.1 ex rel Doe 1 v. Roman
Catholic Diocese of Nashvillel54 S.W.2d 22, 31 (Tenn. 2005) (“The tort of intentional infliction of emotional
distress, also known as the toftoutrageous conduct, was regoized in Tennessee . . .").
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The moving party bears the initial burden dagmonstrating that no genuine issue of
material fact exists.Celotex Corp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). To refute such a
showing, the non-moving party must present seigaificant, probative evidence indicating the
necessity of a trial for resolving a material factual disputk. at 322. A mere scintilla of
evidence is not enougtAnderson477 U.S. at 2524 cClain v. Ontario, Ltd.244 F.3d 797, 800
(6th Cir. 2000). This Court’s role is limited tdetermining whether the case contains sufficient
evidence from which a jury could reasably find for the non-moving partyAnderson477 U.S.
at 248-49;Nat’l Satellite Sports253 F.3d at 907. If the non-moving party fails to make a
sufficient showing on an essential element otése with respect to which it has the burden of
proof, the moving party is en&tl to summary judgment.Celotex 477 U.S. at 323. If this
Court concludes that a fair-minded jury could neturn a verdict in favor of the non-moving
party based on the evidence presented, it may enter a summary judgmestson477 U.S. at
251-52;Lansing Dairy, Inc. v. Espy89 F.3d 1339, 1347 {&Cir. 1994).

The party opposing a Rule 56 motion may swhply rest on the mere allegations or
denials contained in the party’s pleadingdnderson 477 U.S. at 256. Instead, an opposing
party must affirmatively present competent evide sufficient to establish a genuine issue of
material fact necessitating the trial of that isslee. Merely alleging that a factual dispute exists
cannot defeat a properly supportadtion for summary judgmentid. A genuine issue for trial
is not established by evidence that is merely cbleraor by factual dispas that are irrelevant
or unnecessaryld. at 248-52.

[11. ANALYSIS

A. §1983 Claim



The plaintiff brought suit pursuant to Bt42, United States Code § 1983 for alleged
failure to protect him from a that of serious harm. In ond® state a claim under § 1983, a
plaintiff must establish that he was depriveda federal constitutional right by a person acting
under color of state lavBlack v. Barberton Citizens Hosd.34 F.3d 1265, 1267 (6th Cir. 1998);
O’Brien v. City of Grand Rapid£3 F.3d 990, 995 (6th Cir. 1994Russo v. City of Cincinnati
953 F.2d 1036, 1042 (6th Cir. 1998ge also Braley v. City of Pontia®06 F.2d 220, 223 (6th
Cir. 1990) (stating that “Section &3 does not itself create any cbngional rights; it creates a
right of action for the vindication of cotiisitional guarantee®und elsewhere”).

1. Respondeat Superior

The defendants first argue that they are entitled to summary judgment on the § 1983
claim because they cannot be held liable for § 1983 claims based sofelspondeat superior
liability. Section 1983 liabity “will not be imposed solely on the basisrespondeat superibr
or the right to control employee&ellamy v. Bradley729 F.2d 416, 421 (6th Cir. 1984). There
must be a showing that theufgervisor encouraged the specifhcident of misconduct or in
some other way directly participated in itltl. At a minimum, the plaitiff is required to show
that the supervisory official “at least implicithuthorized, approved or knowingly acquiesced in
the unconstitutional conduct tfe offending subordinate.ld. (citing Hays v. Jefferson County
668 F.2d 869, 872-74 (6th Cir. 1982)). Furthermore, § 1983 liability must be based on “active
unconstitutional behavior and cannothi@sed upon a ‘mere failure to act.Shehee v. Luttrell
199 F.3d 295, 300 (6th Cir. 1999) (quotiBglehpour v. University of Tenness#89 F.3d 199,
206-07 (6th Cir. 1998), cert. died, 526 U.S. 1115 (1999)).

According to the defendants, the pldinthas failed to allege any personal, active

involvement of defendants Tayl Hampton, Hardin Gregg, iyel or Lee that would be



sufficient to provide a basis for 8 1983 liability. The defendants move the Court to dismiss the §
1983 claim against them. The plafh@argues that he is not relying aespondeat superior
liability to hold any defendant liable under § 1988 instead has alleged personal involvement
in the alleged unconstitutionabnduct. Each defendant wile addressed individually.
a. Kevin Hampton

The plaintiff testified that defendant Hpton’'s allegedly unconstitutional actions
consisted of “as unit manager, Mr. Hampton wdgabed and responsible over me as an inmate
and when | brought an issue te fattention, he ignored it.”Raudenbush Depat 117]. The
plaintiff testified that he told defendant Haton that he may be sent to the compound and
defendant Hampton’s response was thatll deal with it when hegets back and he never did.”
[Id. at 114]. The plaintiff argues this failure @ot provides the basis for § 1983 liability. [Doc.
86 at 3]. Defendant Hampton cannot be helllé under § 1983 based dglen his supervisory
role over defendant Hardin Gregg“as unit manager” over the inmate.

b. Sharon Taylor

Regarding defendant Sharon Taylor, the plHiatigues that she was directly involved in
the deprivation of his constitutional rights besa she ignored actual knowledge of threats to
harm the plaintiff. [Doc. 86 at 4]. The plé&ffh argues that defendant Taylor was aware of a
potential risk to the plaintiff but acted delibézly indifferent despite the multiple letters and
warnings communicated to herld]. The plaintiff further statethat defendant Taylor made a
handwritten, signed note on the lette® sent her regarding the pdtahthreat prior to the attack
by inmate Christian. I§l. at 9]. The Court finds the evidenpeesented is sufficient to find that
the plaintiff has based defendaraylor's § 1983 liability orpersonal involvement and action,

not merely orrespondeat superidiability.



2. Failureto Statea Claim

The plaintiff alleges that th@efendants violated his constitinally protected right to be
free from cruel and unusual punishment pursuant to the Eighth Amendment, as it applies to the
states through the Fourteenth Amendmente Eighth Amendment prohibits the infliction of
cruel and unusual punishmenttbbse convicted of crimedlilson v. Seiter501 U.S. 294, 296-
97 (citingRobinson v. California370 U.S. 660, 666 (1962)). Only the “unnecessary and wanton
infliction of pain” implicates Eighth Amendment concernkl. The Constitution “does not
mandate comfortable prisons” and only those deprivations that deny the “minimal civilized
measure of life’s necessities” can forre thasis of an Eighth Amendment violatidd. (internal
citations omitted). The Eighth Aendment requires that “prison officials must ‘take reasonable
measures to guarantee the safety of the inmatésrner v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 833 (1994)
(quotingHudson v. Palme68 U.S. 517, 526-27 (1984)). Timgludes protecting prisons from
violence at the hands of other prisoneld. (citing Cortes-Quinones v. Jimenez-Nettlesi@p2
F.2d 556, 558 (1st Cir. 1988)).

However, not every injury to one prisoniflicted by another prisoner violates the
Eighth Amendment; two requirements must be mdt. First, the prison official’s action must
be objectively “sufficiently seriotisand result in the denial dhe “minimal measure of life’'s
necessities.”ld. (internal citations omitted). Where thariate is claiming a failure to prevent
harm, the inmate must show that under the segoconditions, he faced a “substantial risk of
serious harm.”Id. (citing Helling v. McKinney 509 U.S. 25, 35 (1993)). Second, the prison
official must have a “sufficiently culpabktate of mind,” of “dkberate indifference.d. (citing

Wilson 501 U.S. at 302).



“Deliberate indifference” in the context afleged Eighth Amendmentolations requires
“‘obduracy and wantonness, not inadvertence or error in good failarsh v. Arn 937 F.2d
1056, 1060 (6th Cir. 1991). The deliberate inddfece standard imposes the obligation for
prison officials to take “reasonable steps to protect inmates from violence at the hands of other
inmates.” Knight v. Gill, 999 F.2d 1020, 1022 (6th Cir. 1993) (citiMgrsh 937 F.2d at 1060).

a. Kevin Hampton

§ 1983 liability requires active, personal ihx@ment in the unconstitutional behavior,
which at minimum, must implicitly authorize @pprove of a subordinate’s conduct. A mere
failure to act is insufficient to hold a defemtldiable under 8 1983. The plaintiff has failed to
bring forth any evidence that defendantntfdon knowingly acquiesced or authorized any
unconstitutional behavior. The plaintiff's testimony is evidence of only defendant Hampton'’s
alleged failure to act. This failure to act evhthe plaintiff said he would be moved to the
compound is insufficient to sustain 8 1983 liabilityhe plaintiff has provided no evidence of
any active, personal involvement by defendanmpitamn or evidence that he authorized or
acquiesced to allegedly uncondiibmal behavior by a subordinate.

b. Misty Hardin Gregg

The plaintiff argues that defendant Hardin Gregg was personally involved in the
deprivation of his constitutional rights by “denafing] a work sanction” and stating that the
plaintiff would be sent to the compound eugron accepting the work sanction. [Doc. 86 at 3-
4]. *“Her demand that Mr. Raudenbush swgoing to the compound was obviously for
punishment because Mr. Raudenbush was adiiise Ms. Gregg that he was going to the
compound only when she got angered as a resilr. Raudenbush’s choice of words when he

accepted the work sanction.td]. The parties’ evidence on this interaction presents a



disagreement regarding the facts surroundingitheraction between defendant Hardin Gregg
and the plaintiff. However, to survive summarggment, the disputed fact cannot be irrelevant
or unnecessary to the claims. The plaintiff Feked to argue or showow defendant Hardin
Gregg’s conduct is material to his § 1983 claims.

Although this interactin, albeit somewhat disputed, personal involvement between
defendant Hardin Gregg and the ptéf, the plaintiff has failed to argue that defendant Hardin
Gregg deprived him of any constitutional prdiee. Even assuming that defendant Hardin
“demanded” a work sanction instead of offermmge and ordered the plaintiff to the compound,
the plaintiff has failed to gsent any evidence or argumenattithis conduct deprived the
defendant of a constitutionally protected rigllthough the plaintiff does not specifically make
this argument in his response to the motionappears to imply that defendant Hardin Gregg
violated his constitutional ghts by sending him from the annex to the compound because the
compound was a more dangerous section gbtisen where he should not have been housed.

The plaintiff testified in higleposition that Unit 7, where he was placed in the compound,
was a “gang unit” and he should not have been sent there because he faced increased risk as a
non-gang member. First, the plaintiff has nauad or presented anyidence that defendant
Hardin Gregg knew which partiad unit on the compound that thefeledant would be sent to.
Second, the plaintiff has presented no admissbldence that Unit 7 vgaa “gang unit” that
exposed him in particular to risk. Instead, piaintiff testified onlythat he heard, based on
rumor and hearsay, that it was a gang unit. This hearsay statement is insufficient evidence to
show that the plaintiff facedng risk of increased harm to his person. While the plaintiff may
have subjectively felt that he was in matanger in the compoundah in the annex, his

subjective feeling is insufficient to meet tharsdard for 8 1983 liability for failure to protect
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him. Furthermore, the defendants have predameefuted evidence that Unit 7 was not a “gang
unit” or security threat groupnd had not been designated ashstor over a year and a half
before plaintiff was transferdeto that unit. [Doc. 80-aicCracken Depoat 27-28; 41-42].

The Supreme Court has recognized that @uastitution itself does not give rise to a
liberty interest in avoiding transfer toore adverse conditions of confinemeniilkinson v.
Austin,545 U.S. 209, 221 (2005) (cititrgeachum v. Fano427 U.S. 215 (1976)). However, a
liberty interest in avoiding pacular conditions of confinememhay arise from state policies or
regulations, subject to certamonsiderations set forth fBandin v. Connerld. (citing Sandin v.
Conner 515 U.S. 472, 484 (1995)). The FourteeAthendment confers a “limited” liberty
interest in freedom from restraint imposing “atgd and significant hardship” on the inmate in
relation to ordinary incidents iprison or that woul@ffect the duration o& prison sentenc&ee
Sandin v. Conner515 U.S. 472, 484 (1995). Adnmstrative segregation has been held not to
involve an “atypical and sigficant hardship” implicating g@rotected liberty interestJones v.
Baker, 155 F.3d 810, 812 (6th Cir. 199@)olding it was not'atypical” for an inmate to be in
segregation for two and one hg#ars while it was investigated to determine if he was involved
in a prison riot).

Here, the plaintiff can show, at most, thateshelant Hardin Gregg sethe plaintiff from
the annex to the compound, anatkection of the same prison,nuiing investigation based on a
reported disciplinary infractionThis action, even if the plaifitibelieves it was in response to
the way he addressed defendant Hardin Greggs doteimplicate an “atypical and significant
hardship” more than the ordinary incidents agpn life. This transfer from one portion of the
prison to another did not extend the duration ef phaintiff's incarceratin and did not last an

excessively long period of time. Additionally etiplaintiff has failed to present any evidence
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that defendant Hardin Gregg would have been awraat the plaintiff faced any increased threat
of specific harm than other similarly situatpdsoners sent to the compound. The defendants
provided evidence that Unit 7 was an “open pojpatd unit housing offenders of many different
classifications, including other negang, minimum security inmate§.he plaintiff has failed to
provide any evidence that defendant Har@negg had any personahvolvement in the
deprivation of a constitutionaight. The § 1983 claim against her is DISMISSED.
c. Sharon Taylor

The plaintiff argues that defenataSharon Taylor deliberatelgnored letters sent to her
providing notice that he faced a risk of serithasm at the hands of other inmates and thereby
failed to protect him from the September 25, 2@a8y-morning attack. The plaintiff testified
that he sent at least two letters betw September 20, 2013, and September 24, 2013, to
defendant Taylor, as Warden of NECX, informing her of a potential threat to his safety. The
only letter submitted as &lence before the Court is the &tdiscussed above dated September
24, 2013, the day before the early morning attack of September 25, 2013. The plaintiff testified
that the letters were put “in @¢hin-house mail directlyo the warden” in a “sealed envelope.”
[Raudenbush Depat 121]. The plainff further testified that heinderstood that no one would
see the contents of the letters until they reached defendant Talddr. When discussing the
September 24, 2013 letter, which informs defendagltoFaéhat inmate Christian had stolen from
the plaintiff and showed the pldifi a knife, the plaintiff testifie that he did not know “when it
got to the warden. This [letleprobably got to the wardeafter everything happened.’ld[ at
141]. Even when discussing the other letters thmfpif claims he sent to the warden informing

her of a threat to his safety, the plaintiff testified that “in-house mail, sometimes it takes days to
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get to where it's supposed to go and . . . then it may sit there in the mail room until it's delivered
by an inmate . .. .”14l.].

First, the plaintiff has failed to provideny evidence that defendfa Taylor actually
received any letters from theagnhtiff other than the Septemb24, 2013 letter.Without proof
that defendant Taylor receivedyaletter informing her of a poteatithreat, the plaintiff cannot
show that defendant Taylor waseliberately indifferent” to his $aty. From the plaintiff's own
testimony he states that he is unsure if defehdaylor received any letters other than the
September 24, 2013 letter or if she receivedetters prior to the September 25, 2013 morning
attack. Defendant Taylor cannot @eliberately indifferat to a threat she is unaware of and the
plaintiff presented no evidence defendangldawas aware ofray prior letters.

Second, regarding the September 24, 2013 letisrcli¢éar that defenaé Taylor received
and read that letter at sompeint on September 24, 2013. Defend&aylor wrote on the top of
the letter that Mr. McCracken, another officer, should talk topthmtiff about the contents of
the letter and “move him if necessary.” While itiear that defendant ylar received and read
this letter, it is equally clear that she was takiegsonable steps to ensure the plaintiff's safety.
Defendant Taylor instructed an officer to intigate the contents of the letter, which the Court
notes focus only on inmate Christian robbing tremiff and showing him a knife, and to move
the plaintiff if the investigationvarrants such an action. The eanide in the record is clear and
unrefuted that defendant Taylaas not “deliberately indifferentto the plaintiff's safety upon
receiving this letter. Indeed, the evidence shdtlve opposite, that defendant Taylor was taking
reasonable steps to protect the plaintiff if needed. The fact that the plaintiff was injured by an
inmate in the early morning hours the followingydaefore the plaintiff ould be talked to or

moved, while unfortunate, does notpase liability on defendant Taylor.
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d. Officer Lewis, Officer Chance, and Lieutenant Gregg

The plaintiff alleges that Officers Lesviand Chance and Lieutenant Gregg were

deliberately indifferent to threats @by inmates Christian and House.
i Inmate Christian

Regarding the alleged threat posed by innfateistian, the plaintiff argues that he
informed Officers Chance and Lewis that inm@teistian had “threatedehim with a knife and
told me that it was a gang cell” andathnmate Christian had a knife Rqudenbush Depat
124]. The plaintiff further testified that thdfiocers responded that they would conduct a cell
search to try to find the knife and that withanday or so, the officerconducted such a cell
search but no knife was discovere The Eighth Amendment reiges prison officials to take
“reasonable steps” to protect inmates. Officeewis and Chance were informed that inmate
Christian may have a knife, they reasonatelgponded by conducting a cell search to look for
such a knife but none was found. The Court fin@s$ #s a matter of law, Officers Chance and
Lewis took reasonable steps to protect the plaintiff from any potential harm from inmate
Christian when informed that inteaChristian may possess a knife.

The plaintiff testified that Officer Chanceowld have known of a potential threat to him
because he had been in possession of lettersssadf to the Warden and grievances. However,
the plaintiff has provided no evidence that gaieces were ever filed regarding inmates
Christian or House, nor did he provide angtitmony regarding what the grievances allegedly
contained or when they were file The plaintiff further testifiedhat “I think | may have said
something to him [Officer Chance]. If | didrsay it to him, | said it to other COs.'Id[ at 166].
Finally, the plaintiff admits that Officer Chanceiddchot see the content of the letters” addressed

to the warden or he does not know if Officgélnance saw the conteof the letters. Ifl. at 168].
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The plaintiff has failed to provide any evidencattfficer Chance actually knew of a threat to
his safety and deliberately failed to protdsimn based on his possession of sealed letters
addressed to the Warden or grievance notices. plHnatiff only testifies tlat he “may have told
him” but provides no testimony where he defilyitstates he informed Officer Chance of a
specific, significant threat or that Officer Cltanwould have been aware of the contents of any
letters.
ii. Inmate House

In his response to the motion for summary judgment, the plaintiff argues that he informed
these officers on multiple occasions that inmdtaise had attempted to access the plaintiff's
cell, threatened the plaintiff, and assaulteth on September 24, 2013. 4B 86 at 6-7]. The
only proof of this notice to Offer Lewis and Lieutenant Greggme from the plaintiff's own
deposition testimony. The plaintiff has submittedetters or grievance forms given to Officer
Lewis or Lieutenant Gregg conoémg inmates House or Christian.

The plaintiff's argues that he informed Officer Lewis and Lieutenant Gregg about
potential danger from inmate House but the offidailed to protect him.The Court notes that
the plaintiff's testimony is wildly inconsisterthroughout his deposition. In the span of his
deposition, the plaintiff changduis testimony regarding interactions with inmate House to at
least four separate statements. At firsie thlaintiff had “never’had any interaction or
altercation with inmate Hoesprior to the September 25, 2048ack; second, inmate House
attempted to access his cell once but was unsuctetssfd, inmate House attempted to access

his cell on three separate ocacass; and fourth, inmate House sassfully accessed his cell and

15



physically assaulted him the evening of Seften?4, 2013, the day before the attack at issue
here?

The plaintiff argues that the fsdants ignored a threat tostsafety after he had one or
some interactions with inmate Housdd. [at 136-38]. The plaintifprovided no date of when
the alleged interaction or interactions with inméteuse occurred other than to say it was in the
days he was housed in the compound. Whdé&edasvho he informed about any threat from
inmate House, the plaintiff testified thia¢ told the “CO tat was on duty.” Ifl.]. The plaintiff
did not specify any particulaCO or individual defendant & he told about the alleged
interactions. Id. at 136-37]. This alleged report tthe CO” or “the CO on duty” is
insufficient to establish 8 1983 liability for any tife named defendants. These statements do
not provide any evidence that a particutdefendant knew of and deliberately ignored a
significant threat asequired under § 1983.

The plaintiff finally argues that he informed Officer Lewis and Lieutenant Gregg of an
alleged assault by inmate House and they failed to act. Defendant Gregg presented evidence that
he only learned of an attack on the plaintfhen he arrived to work on the morning of

September 25 and did not have any memory or krdgelef the plaintiff bimg attacked prior to

2 At the start of the deposition, when asked if the gifiithad any disagreements, arguments, altercations with
Inmate House prior to September 25, 2013,” the day of the attack at issue here, the plaintiff plainly re$gorided
[Raudenbush Depat 30]. The plaintiff then confirmed that he had “never” had any altercations, disagreements, o
arguments with inmate House, including verbal altercations, prior to the September 25, 2013ldttatB1][ The
plaintiff further testified that “the only time he was a threat to me was when he physically attacked me” on
September 25, 2013.Id[]. One hundred pages later in his deposition when asked if the plaintiff at any time told
anyone inmate House was a threat to him, the plaingfiaeded, “No, ‘cause (sic) he wasn't a threat until he—he
assaulted me when he came in the roonid. 4t 136]. When asked to confirm that he was unaware that inmate
House was a threat to him prior to the early morning of September 25, 2013, the plaintisiamded that “Prior

to that | think he—he came into the room or he was coming towards me and | pushed the door and then | got out
where the CO could see me and he just stood there, so there was one other time he actualgnyaeg tme.”

[Id.]. The plaintiff then testified that “there were attetempts where Inmate House tried to access [his] cell.
There wasn't just one. There wexetually | think three altogether.”ld. at 140]. The plaintiff then testified that
“according to the compliant, that's rwect,” that inmate House had actually accessed his cell on the evening of
September 24, 2013, and physically assaulted hidi]. [
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coming to work that day. Gregg Depo.at 28-29]. The only evidence of a notification to
defendants Lewis and Gregg comes from thenpffis complaint in the following exchange:

Q. All right. And also in paragraph 25 [of the complaint] you
claim - -

A. Uh-huh.

Q. - -that you told CaptaiGregg, Defendant Gregg - -

A. Uh-huh.

Q. - - specifically about Inmathristian and Inmate House.

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. So it’s your testimony that you told Captain Gregg - -

A. Uh-huh.

Q. - - that an inmate assaudtgou and he didvhat? Did he do
anything?

A. Let me look here in the - - gb. In this paragraph [of the
complaint] here it says “Plaintiff immediately reported the assault
to Defendant Lewis. Plaintiff ab told Defendant Gregg of the
theft, extortion, andhe assault by Inmatelouse and Christian
against the Plaintiff.”

[Id. at 142-43]. The entirety dhe plaintiff's evidence agast defendants Gregg and Lewis
regarding inmate House consisit the plaintiff reading a pagraph from his complaint and
stating “that’s correct.” Thelaintiff provided no additional s#imony regarding how or when
he informed the officers of a specific threathis safety. No other evidence in the record
supports this allegation made in the complaifurthermore, the plaintiff merely cursorily
affirmed the allegation in his gesition by reading iverbatim into the record. The plaintiff
testified in his deposition on multiple occasionatthe had no altercation or interaction with
inmate House prior to September 25, 2013; furtleeemthe plaintiff didnot put any mention of

a threat from inmate House in his letterthhe warden on September 24, 2013. Finally, except
for when he is quoting directly from the colapt's allegations, theplaintiff provided no
testimony that he informed defemda Lewis or Gregg about a tltefrom inmate House. His

testimony earlier in the same deposition clearyest he had no intettaan with, and therefore
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could not have felt threatened by, inmateuse prior to the September 25, 2013 attackhis
mere affirmation of the complaint allegationirsufficient to raise a colorable claim that he
informed these defendants as to a threat by infdatese and that they lkilgerately failed to
protect him. The defendants’ motion fornsmary judgment as to the 8§ 1983 claim is
GRANTED.
e. Harold Angel and Randy Lee

The plaintiff concedes that that there is “no evidence available to him concerning the
direct involvement” of defendant Harold Arger defendant Randy Lee. [Doc. 86 at 4].
Furthermore, a review of the redoindicates there amo factual allegations relating to Angel or
Lee for which to hold them liable for the remaigistate law claims. Therefore, the complaint
against those two defendants is DISMISSED.

3. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

To state a claim for intentional infliction efmotional distress, aldmown as outrageous
conduct, the plaintiff must showhat the conduct at issue is) (thtentional orreckless; (2)
outrageous; and (3) resultedarserious mental injuryDoe 1 ex rel Doe 1 v. Roman Catholic
Diocese of Nashvillel54 S.W.2d 22, 31 (Tenn. 2005). Imteor recklessness requires a
“significantly higher burden” than mere negligenckl. at 39 (citingChristensen v. Superior
Court, 820 P.2d 181, 202-04 (Cal. 1991)). Recklessrexgpsires the defendant to be aware of

but consciously disregard a stdogtial and unjustifiable risk, vith would be a gross deviation

3 A party may not create a factual issue by filingadfidavit opposing a motion for summary judgment which
contradicts his earlier deposition testimornieid v. Sears, Roebuck and C0 F.2d 453, 460 (6th Cir. 1986).

This rule prohibits a party fro creating a “sham fact issu&eeAerel, S.R.L. v. PCC Airfoils, L.L.G188 F.3d 899,
908-09 (6th Cir. 2006). The same principle should apply in this case. The plaintiff magatetan issue of fact

by presenting directly contradictory testimony throughositdgiposition with no explanation or justification for why

his testimony is in direct comtdiction. After a thorough review of theapitiff's entire deposition, the plaintiff gave

no indications that he was ever confused by any questwmer attempted to explain why his testimony was entirely
contradictory regarding his interactions with inmate House or how and when he informed correctional officers
regarding his perceived threat.
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from the standard of care exercised by a normal perkbr{citing Hodges v. S.C. Toof & Co.
833 S.w.2d 896, 901 (Tenn. 1992)). The secomdhent requiring that the conduct be “so
extreme in degree, as to go beyond all bound¥eoéncy, and to be ragied as atrocious, and
utterly intolerable in acivilized community.” Id. at 39 (internal quotations omitted). The
plaintiff fails to present any conduct that cdule considered outrageous as to “go beyond all
bounds of decency” or would bentolerable in a civilized soety.” As discussed above, the
plaintiff's evidence, which consists of his orsistent deposition testimony, fails to show that
any named defendant intended to cause him lmroonsciously disregarded a substantial and
unjustifiable risk. The defendant&ctions of failing to protect the plaintiff, even taken in the
light most favorable to the plaintiff, establisbthing more than mere negligence. The claim for
intentional infliction ofemotional distress, or the tort@fitrageous conduct, BISMISSED.
4. Assault and Battery

In Tennessee, an assault is defined as “ahyeading to do corporal injury to another,
accompanied with such circumstances as deabtthe time an intention, coupled with the
present ability, of using actual violence against the persdmbmpson v. Williamson Cnty.,
Tenn, 965 F. Supp. 1026, 1037 (M.D. Tenn. 1997) (citihgffman v. State200 Tenn. 487
(1956)). To constitute an assault, there nhestsome overt act or physical movement which
causes the plaintiff to belieyghysical harm is imminentBaker v. Moreland1989 WL 89758,
at *5 (Tenn. Ct. App. Aug. 9, 1989). A battery“eny intentional, unkful and harmful (or
offensive) contact by one person with the person of anothRaihes v. Shoney’s, In@A09 F.
Supp. 1070, 1083 (E.D. Tenn. 1995) (citing T.P.l. Civil § 8.02 (App’x 16)).

The plaintiff presented no evidence of avért act or physical movement” by any of the

defendants which would cause thlaintiff to believe physical harm was “imminent.” In fact,
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the only acts complained of by the plaintiff werdailure to protect him from a physical assault
by another inmate four days after he was ndoteethe compound. There is no evidence in the
record to show that any aoti taken by a named defendant smal the plaintiff to believe
physical harm was imminent. Furthermore, nalence in the recorgrovides any indication
that any named defendants intendectause fear or apprehensiontbe part of tk plaintiff.
Further, the record does nobpide any evidence that any thie named defendants were present
during the attack on September 25, 2013. If tHerdkants were not prededturing the attack, it
is impossible for any of the named defendanteawee touched the plaintiff in any unlawful or
harmful manner to constitute a battery. The plaintiff's claims for assault and battery are hereby
DISMISSED.
5. Eleventh Amendment

The plaintiff, in response to the motion frmmary judgment, concedes that his claims
against the defendants in their official capasitimust be dismissed because the Eleventh
Amendment bars claims against state officialshieir official capacity. [Doc. 86 at 10]. The
complaint alleging claims against the defendantbéir official capacities is DISMISSED.

6. Miscellaneous Motions

The defendants’ “Motion to Ascertain Siat of Summary Judgment”, [Doc. 90], is
DENIED as moot. The defendants’ motiond@smiss for lack of prosecution, [Doc. 91], is
DENIED as moot.

So ordered.

ENTER:

s/J. RONNIE GREER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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